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In calendar year 1972, the United States Court of Appeals for the
Fifth Circuit decided approximately 70 cases involving the interpretation and application of the major federal statutes governing the employment relationship, i.e. the Labor Management Relations Act,' the Norris LaGuardia Act, 2 the Railway Labor Act,' and the Fair Labor Standards Act.' This article is a survey of the significant opinions of the
court,5 arranged under headings corresponding with the respective statutes under which they were decided.
LABOR MANAGEMENT RELATIONS ACT

During the year the court decided nearly 50 cases arising under the
Labor Management Relations Act. The court, however, wrote only 23
full opinions, enforcing without opinion 19 orders of the National Labor
Relations Board' under Local Rule 21,1 and deciding six other cases per
curiam. Nevertheless, despite the court's selectivity, its opinions dealt
with a wide range of problems under the Labor Management Relations
Act, including matters involving both procedure and substance.
Jurisdiction
In NLRB v. Clark,8 the court held the record evidence did not support
a finding that the NLRB had jurisdiction over the respondent's business,
and remanded the case to the Board for additional evidence, findings
of fact and conclusions of law consistent with the opinion of the court.
The record showed that annual gross volume of revenues of the business
*

Associate, Law Firm of Fisher & Phillips, Atlanta, Georgia. B.A., Lehigh University; J.D.,

University of Pennsylvania.
I. 29 U.S.C. § 151 (1970).
2. 29 U.S.C. § 101 (1970).
3. 45 U.S.C. § 151 (1970).
4. 29 U.S.C. § 201 (1970). For purposes of this article, the Fair Labor Standards Act includes
all of the Acts administered by the Department of Labor, including the Equal Pay Act of 1963,
and the Age Discrimination Act of 1966.
5. Throughout this article, the word "court" will refer to the United States Court of Appeals
for the Fifth Circuit.
6. The National Labor Relations Board will be referred to in this article as "the Board," or
"NLRB."
7. See Bell, Federal Practice and Procedure, 22 MERCER L. REV. 745 n.I (1971) for a discussion of the genesis of Local Rule 21.
8. 468 F.2d 459 (5th Cir. 1972).

MERCER LAW REVIEW

816

[Vol. 24

in question, an Alabama nursing home, exceeded the Board's $100,000
jurisdictional yardstick. However, the evidence concerning the business'
effect upon interstate commerce amounted to, in the words of the court,
"nothing more than that the home bought supplies from Ipco and Ipco
had its 'main office' in Atlanta." 9
The Fifth Circuit held such evidence was so ambiguous that it would
require an "act of faith" 0 for it to conclude that the respondent's purchases from Ipco "affect commerce" within the meaning of the Act. In
addition, the court considered and disposed of the Board's contention
that money paid by the home to Ipco enured to the benefit of that outof-state corporation, and therefore the operations of the home had more
than a minimal effect on interstate commerce because the Board had
not articulated that theory prior to appeal."
Proceedings Under Sections 8 and 10
(Unfair Labor Practice Cases)
Service of Process
In NLRB v. Clark, 2 the court held that an employer who transferred
his business to another employer remained subject to service of both an
unfair labor practice charge and an ensuing complaint at the premises
of the transferred place of business since the NLRB had neither constructive nor actual notice of the transfer. The court held service good,
despite the fact that there was no evidence the predecessor employer
received actual notice of either the charge or the complaint.
Protected Concerted Activity
Among the cases concerning the scope of employee rights guaranteed
under Section 713 of the Act were two significant cases 4 in which the
9. Id. at 466.
10. Id. at 467.
II. Citing SEC v. Chenery Corp., 318 U.S. 80 (1943), and Trailways v. CAB, 412 F.2d 926
(Ist Cir. 1969).
12. 468 F.2d 459.
13. 29 U.S.C. § 157 (1964), which provides:
Employees shall have the right to self-organization, to form, join, or assist labor organizations, to bargain collectively through representatives of their own choosing, and to
engage in other concerted activities for the purpose of collective bargaining or other
mutual aid or protection, and shall also have the right to refrain from any or all of such
activities except to the extent that such right may be affected by an agreement requiring
membership in a labor organization as a condition of employment as authorized in
Section 158(a)(3) of this title.
14. Davison-Paxson Co. v. NLRB, 462 F.2d 364 (5th Cir. 1972); Cameron Iron Works, Inc.
v. NLRB, 464 F.2d 609 (5th Cir. 1972).
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court considered the balance to be struck between the employer's right
to operate its business in an orderly fashion, and the rights of employees
to organize and to bargain collectively.
In Davison-Paxon Co. v. NLRB,'6 the court held, in disagreement
with the Board, that a department store employer did not violate either
Section 8(a)(l)'" or 8(a)(3)' 7 of the Act by discharging during an organizational campaign, an avowedly pro-union employee who refused after
several requests to comply with a long standing company policy reasonably interpreted as prohibiting the wearing of a yellow, 50-cent-piecesized "Vote Yes" button on the selling floor.
The Trial Examiner'" had held, and the Board agreed without opinion, that the wearing of the button in question was protected by Section
7 of the Act, and that the employer therefore violated Sections 8(a)(1)
and (3) of the Act by discharging the employee for wearing the button
in selling areas. The Trial Examiner did not find persuasive the company's contention that the size and conspicuous nature of the button and
the controversy engendered by its manner of distribution justified the
employer's action in banning its wearing in selling areas, citing the
Board's decision in Eckerd's Market, Inc. 9
The court disagreed. First, it interpreted Eckerd's Market to hold
only that employee contact with the public was not, standing alone, a
sufficient basis for prohibiting the wearing of the "small nickel sized
button involved there.""0
The court then noted that the company, long before the organizational campaign, had had a dress code, that there was no evidence of
anti-union animus, that the employer's interpretation of its dress code
to forbid the wearing of the button was reasonable under the circumstances, and that the union's method of distribution of the buttons in
question had caused labor unrest in the store. The court concluded: "We
15. 462 F.2d 364 (5th Cir. 1972).
16. 29 U.S.C. § 158(a)(1) (1970) provides that it shall be an unfair labor practice for an
employer "to interfere with, restrain, or coerce employees in the exercise of the rights guaranteed
in Section 157 of this title."
17. 29 U.S.C. § 158(a)(3) (1970), provides, in pertinent part, that it shall be an unfair labor
practice for an employer "by discrimination in regard to hire or tenure of employment or any term
or condition of employment to encourage or discourage membership in any labor organization
18. While the Civil Service Commission changed the name of "Trial Examiner" to "Administrative Law Judge" effective August 19, 1972, the term "Trial Examiner" is used throughout this
article because all of the cases reviewed involved Trial Examiner decisions rendered prior to August
19, 1972.
19. Eckerd's Market, Inc., 183 N.L.R.B. No. 40, 74 L.R.R.M. 1319 (1970).
20. 462 F.2d at 367.
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hold only that under these particular facts the Board, in prohibiting
enforcement of Davison's anti-button rule, did not take proper cognizance of the employer's interest in protecting his business and thus incorrectly struck the balance of interests involved."'"
Despite the court's limitation of the case to its particular facts, the
court's opinion reveals considerable sensitivity to the reasonable needs
of an employer conscientiously trying to operate its business within the
confines of the Act during the trying experience of an extended union
organizational campaign.
In Cameron Iron Works, Inc. v. NLRB, 2 another panel of the court
considered the same type of case, this time agreeing with the Board that
the employer went beyond the range of company action permissible to
maintain efficiency and order, and to regulate employees' on-the-job
performance. Here, the employer promoted one of the union's shop
stewards from journeyman electrician to leadman, a position entailing
an increase in salary and responsibility.
The Board found, and the court agreed, the company violated Section 8(a)(l) by giving the employee an ultimatum, after he began devoting working time to his shop steward tasks, either to resign as
steward or to accept a demotion to journeyman. The court felt the
employer should rather have required the employee to curtail the
amount of working time spent in processing grievances. In this connection, the court specifically stated it was in no way intending "to restrain the company from limiting, or indeed completely prohibiting,
on-the-job steward activities," 3 noting that "working time is for
24
work."
In Bob's Casing Crews, Inc. v. NLRB,25 the court upheld the Board's
decision that Section 7 of the Act protects the right of an employee to
threaten concerted action in order to ameliorate future as well as present
working conditions. In that case, the employer was found to have violated Section 8(a)(l) when it refused to hire the employee in question
because he had, in the immediate past, threatened to pull a work crew
off the job if they were not relieved after performing a full day's work.
The court also considered in Local 1255, IAM v. NLRB, questions
concerning the scope of Section 7 as it pertains to union membership. 26
The court there denied enforcement of the Board's holding that the
21.
22.
23.
24.
25.
26.

Id. at 371.
464 F.2d 609.
Id. at 610.
Id. at 610.
458 F.2d 1301 (5th Cir. 1972).
456 F.2d 1214 (5th Cir. 1972).
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union violated Section 8(b)(l)(A) of the Act by fining employees for
conduct occurring after they resigned from the union, holding: "[O]nly
that a union member who resigns during a strike and crosses [a] picket
line to return to work may be fined by the union for his postresignation
strike-breaking when the fine is enforceable only by expulsion from the
union "12
The court specifically stated that it expressed no opinion on the issue
of whether the Act permits a union to levy fines for postresignation
conduct "ostensibly enforceable ' 2 8 in court or by means other than
expulsion.
In view of the court's narrow holding, the viability of this decision is
at least arguable, even in light of the subsequent decision of the Supreme
Court in NLRB v. Granite State Joint Board.29 In the latter case, the
Supreme Court held the union violated Section 8(b)(1)(A) of the Act
both by fining and by seeking enforcement of the fine against its employees who had lawfully resigned from the union, and thereafter engaged in conduct which union rules proscribed. While the Court's opinion in Granite State was couched in broad language 31 the situation in
Local 1255 31 was not dealt with either explicitly or implicitly.
In NLRB v. Aclang, Inc., 31 the court held, inter alia, that activities
protected by Section 7 include participation in heated intra-union arguments, and an attempt by an employer to forstall union discontent by
refusing to hire an employee who vehemently disagrees with the union
leadership violated Section 8(a)(1).
Section 8(a)(l)-Actions of Employer as "Interference, Restraint or
Coercion"
In NLRB v. Gary Aircraft Corp., 3 the court disagreed with the
Board's conclusion that the company violated Section 8(a)(1) by the
presence of a leadman, the lowest level of supervision, at a union meet27.
28.
29.
30.

Id. at 1217.
Id.at 1214.
U.S. -_, 93 S. Ct. 385 (1972).
Eg.,
[W]here a member lawfully resigns from a union and thereafter engages in conduct
which the union rule proscribes, the union commits an unfair labor practice when it seeks
enforcement of fines for that conduct. That is to say, when there is a lawful dissolution
of a union-member relation, the union has no more control over the former member than
it has over the man in the street." - U.S. at -, 93 S. Ct. at 387.
31. 456 F.2d 1214.
32. 466 F.2d 558 (5th Cir. 1972).
33. 468 F.2d 562 (5th Cir. 1972).
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ing. The court noted the evidence that the leadman was indeed present
at the meeting, but concluded that his mere attendance was not enough
under the circumstances to interfere with, restrain or coerce the employees of the company in the exercise of their Section 7 rights.
The court was impressed that the union's own witnesses established
that there was indiscriminate leafleting at the plant, which in all probability resulted in several leadmen receiving leaflets inviting them to the
union's meeting, and that an employee who was one of the most active
union adherents greeted the leadman at the meeting in a friendly way.
The court concluded the evidence simply did not prove the necessary
coercion. The court held that under the circumstances of the case, and
particularly the actions of the employee union adherent, the Board went
too far in finding the incident in violation of Section 8(a)(l) of the Act,
but specifically stated it was not deciding that "mere attendance alone
'34
can never be a clear violation of the Act.
Section 8(a)(3)-Actions of Employer Intended to "Encourage or Discourage" Union Membership
In NLRB v. Aclang, Inc.,35 the court, in agreement with the Board,
held the employer's refusal, at the request of the union, to hire an
employee because of her participation in heated intra-union arguments,
and because the union attempted to expel her, not only violated Section
8(a)(l) of the Act, as noted above, 3 but in addition violated Section
8(a)(3). In so holding, the court chose not to follow decisions of the
First 37 and Eighth 31 Circuits which held company response to protected intra-union activities, even though violative of Section 8(a)(1),
was not a violation of Section 8(a)(3) in the absence of more specific
proof that the employer intended his actions to affect the status of the
union and not simply the employee's right to engage in action within
the union.
The court instead found the employer's refusal to hire the employee
was discrimination "to encourage . . . membership in any labor organization," and therefore violative of Section 8(a)(3), because "membership" must be defined as meaning "effective, not docile, membership."3 The court went on:
34.
35.
36.
37.
38.
39.

Id. at 563.
466 F.2d 558.
Id.
NLRB v. Corning Glass Works, 293 F.2d 784 (Ist Cir. 1961).
NLRB v. J. I. Case Co., 198 F.2d 919 (8th Cir. 1952).
466 F.2d at 562.
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Effective and representative union organization can be deterred by the
company concplacency [sic] toward the union's treatment of its dissenting members as well as by overt action directed at the union itself.
By acquiescing to employee or union pressure . .

.

.even if done

only in the hope of avoiding future labor conflict, the employer restricts the Section 7 rights of the affected individual employee in violation of Section 8(a)(l). Any by so acquiescing the employer can not
but encourage adherence to whatever union faction appears to hold
sway over employment, thereby violating Section 8(a)(3) as well.40
While the court's holding that the employer's refusal to hire violated
Section 8(a)(3) as well as Section 8(a)(l) is interesting from an academic
standpoint, the ruling had little practical effect inasmuch as the Board
has the power to order the employee reinstated under Section 8(a)(1)
as well as under Section 8(a)(3), and would almost certainly do so under
the circumstances of this case.4
The court also considered three cases which illustrate why it is so
difficult to predict the outcome of the typical "pretext" 42 case under
Section 8(a)(3). Each of these cases represents a variation on the theme
of Universal Camera43 and the relative weight to be accorded the views
of the Trial Examiner, the Board, and the courts.
In Goodyear Tire and Rubber Co. v. NLRB, 44 the court enforced the
decision of the Board which held, in disagreement with the Trial Examiner, that the employer violated Section 8(a)(3) of the Act by discharging one of its employees for his union activities. The employee in question had been actively seeking union representation because of his disagreement with the employer concerning changes in his hours of work.
There was evidence that both the employee's immediate supervisor and
a member of the next higher level of management were aware of the
employee's union activities. The employer also presented evidence that
it had received complaints from one of its customers about the employee's performance. The member of higher management and a representative of the customer testified at the hearing but the employee's
immediate supervisor did not testify, although present at the hearing.
The court held the Board's disagreement with the Trial Examiner was
40. 466 F.2d at 562, 563.
41. See, e.g., J.A. Ferguson Constr. Co., 172 N.L.R.B. No. 165 (1968).
42. The primary issue is whether the employee was discharged for cause, or rather because of
his membership or desire for membership in the union.
43. Universal Camera Corp. v. NLRB, 340 U.S. 474 (1951).
44. 456 F.2d 465 (5th Cir. 1972).
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permissible under Universal Camera,4 5 since it was not over credibility
but over the inferences to be drawn from facts established in the case.
The Court made particular mention, as had the Board, of the failure of
the employer to call the immediate supervisor, whom the evidence revealed was the prime mover behind the employee's discharge. The member of higher management, it was noted, had no first hand knowledge
of the by-play between the supervisor and the employee.
In Ward v. NLRB, 8 the court considered another case in which the
Board had disagreed with its Trial Examiner. In this case, the Trial
Examiner found the employer had violated Section 8(a)(3) of the Act
by discharging an employee because of the employee's non-membership
in the union, and that the union violated Section 8(b)(2) of the Act by
causing that discharge. The employer and the union had contended that
the real reason for the discharge of the employee was because he was
not a resident of the locality in which he was employed. The Trial
Examiner, after considering testimony offered by the company and the
union to the effect that the only reason the employees were discharged
was because they were non-residents, found the union was interested in
jobs for local people only to the extent that such local people were
members of the union within its territorial jurisdiction. The Board disagreed, finding that the evidence created no more than suspicion that the
union would not have sought the employee's discharge despite his outof-town status if he had been a union member, and dismissed the complaint.
Reversing and remanding, the court noted the only testimony supporting the employer's position, that of the employer and union witnesses mentioned above, while not expressly discredited by the Trial
Examiner, was "implicitly" 47 discredited by him in light of his findings.
Accordingly, the court held that the Board could only reach the conclusion it did by overruling its Trial Examiner on credibility findings, which
was improper.
Finally, in NLRB v. Hicks-Ponder Co.,4" the court declined to enforce
an order based on decisions of both a Trial Examiner and the Board
that an employer violated Section 8(a)(3) by discharging two union
adherents during an organizational campaign. The general counsel's
main problem in the case was proof of employer knowledge of the
employee's union activity prior to the discharge, which the Trial Exam45.
46.
47.
48.

340 U.S. 474.
462 F.2d 8 (5th Cir. 1972).
Id. at 13.
458 F.2d 19 (5th Cir. 1972).
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iner and the Board had found from evidence that the two employees
were observed talking together by a supervisor within 24 hours of their
discharge. The court noted, however, there was no evidence that the
supervisor heard what was said, and even if he had, the employee's
testimony of what was said was hopelessly ambiguous in regard to their
union activity. 9 The court held such evidence, therefore, did not amount
to "substantial evidence" of employer knowledge and declined to enforce the Board's order reinstating the employees.
While the decisions in Goodyear,5" Ward,5 and Hicks-Ponder" can
be harmonized, it is interesting to note the difficulties caused by the
basic but elusive concept of "motive" upon which so many of the holdings under Section 8(a)(3) turn.
Section 8(a)((5)- Employer's Duty to Bargain
The court decided three significant cases5" involving an employer's
duty to bargain with a union, two of which involved whether the duty
existed, and the third whether the employer's techniques met the test of
good faith.
In Daisy's Originals, Inc. v. NLRB, 4 the court considered the novel
issue of whether an employer who had been amicably dealing with a
union for 14 years was relieved of the duty to bargain by his showing
that a majority of his employees no longer desired union representation.
The evidence revealed the employer received unsolicited expression
from certain of its employees of the desire to rid themselves of the union
as their bargaining agent. Subsequently, the employer held several meetings at which it made implied promises of benefit found by the Board
to be in violation of Section 8(a)(1) of the Act, but not sufficiently
flagrant to require that an election be set aside under the rules established by the Supreme Court in NLRB v. Gissel Packing Co.55 Subsequently, the employer had independent evidence that more than a majority of its employees no longer desired union representation, and broke
off negotiations with the union.
The Board, in agreement with its Trial Examiner, held the company's
49. Id. at 20 n.2.
50. 456 F.2d 465.
51. 462 F.2d 8.
52. 458 F.2d 19.
53. Daisy's Originals Inc. v. NLRB, 468 F.2d 493 (5th Cir. 1972); Emerald Maintenance, Inc.
v. NLRB, 464 F.2d 698 (5th Cir. 1972); NLRB v. Palomar Corp., 465 F.2d 731 (5th Cir. 1972).
54. 468 F.2d 493.
55. 395 U.S. 575 (1969).

MERCER LAW REVIEW

[Vol. 24

refusal to bargain violated Section 8(a)(5) and imposed a bargaining
order. The Board reasoned a bargaining order was appropriate where a
union having a long term relationship with an employer lost its majority
status by that employer's conduct, whether flagrant or not. Both the
Trial Examiner and the Board cited Gissel as authority for imposing a
bargaining order in the case.
The court disagreed. While acknowledging that the situation in Gissel
was not the same as that in the case under consideration, the court felt
that the principles of Gissel applied equally to the two situations. The
court stated that neither an employer dealing with an incumbent union
nor an employer presented with a card majority of employees seeking
to establish a collective bargaining relationship "should lose his defense
of a good faith doubt to the Board's findings of independent unfair labor
practices which do not tend to dissipate the union's majority and which
do not even tend to cloud the holding of a board-supervised election.""6
Further, the court felt it significant that there was no evidence to show
that the employer was the source of the employees' desire to renounce
union representation. Moreover, the employer, after receiving employee
petitions, sought a decertification election, but that proceeding had been
interrupted and might otherwise have been postponed by the Board's
application of its "blocking charge rule." 57 Thus, were the Board's order
to be enforced, the union would be entitled to a certification for another
year, and the employees would be unable to rid themselves of the union
until after that period had expired. Finally, the court went on to consider
whether the normal reasons for imposing a bargaining order on an
employer were present in the instant case, and concluded that they were
not.
The principle that an employer should not benefit by his own wrongs
was held not applicable because the wrongs of which the employer was
guilty did not cause the union's loss of majority, nor did it impair the
employees' exercise of freedom of choice. The court noted the authority
in Gissel for a bargaining order for prophylactic purposes was clearly
intended to apply to situations in which an employer had damaged the
election process and thereby impaired the ability of the employees to
make their own choice. The court concluded:
We think the need to effectuate employee freedom of choice is as
56. 468 F.2d at 502.
57. This is the practice whereby the Board defers action on a representation petition until
pending unfair labor practices against the employer are litigated or settled. See text accompanying
footnote 90, infra.
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equally an important goal as is the need to deter and remedy employer
misconduct. . . .Where the unfair labor practices found have not

been determined to be "sufficiently flagrant so that an election could
not be held or should be set aside under the Gissel rule," a bargaining

order remedy to technical violations of Section 8(a)(l) is unwarranted."
Emerald Maintenance,Inc. v. NLRB 59 was the other case considering
the existence of an employer's duty to bargain. The court there
examined, in light of the Supreme Court decision in NLRB v. Burns
Security Services, Inc.,e" a pre-Burns Board decision requiring a successful bidder on a maintenance contract not only to bargain with the union
representing the employees of the contractor formerly holding the contract but also requiring it to assume the collective bargaining agreement
between the former contractor and the union representing its employees.
The application of the rule in Burns by the Court necessitated its denial
of that portion of the Board's order requiring the new contractor to be
bound by the collective bargaining agreement between the old contractor and its employees.
The remaining issue was whether or not the new contractor should
have been ordered to bargain with the incumbent union because, as in
Burns, the bargaining unit remained unchanged, and a majority of the
employees hired by the new employer were represented by a recently
certified bargaining agent."' The disposition of this issue will be examined in some detail, as it is likely to be raised in future "successorship"
litigation.
Emerald, the new employer, contended first of all that its operations
were so different from those of the old contractor that it ought not to
be required to bargain. The court, as had the Board, gave this contention
short shrift, noting the "strikingly high number of employees '" 2 of the
former contractor who had become Emerald employees.
The second contention made by Emerald arose because the union had
originally been certified to represent an overall unit covering all service
functions at the particular location in question. Subsequently, it became
58. 468 F.2d at 503.
59. 464 F.2d 698.
60. 406 U.S. 272 (1972).
61. The Court in Burns had specifically stated that its holding may have been different "if the
Board had determined that because Burns' operational structure and practices differed from those
of Wackenhut, the Lockheed bargaining unit was no longer an appropriate one [or] . . .if Burns
406
had not hired employees already represented by a union certified as bargaining agent .
U.S. at __.
62. 99 out of 133.
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necessary or desirable to split up the functions and award separate
contracts for each function. When this occurred, the union entered into
separate contracts with the various contractors. Emerald argued that
the resulting "fragmented '6 3 union was inappropriate, and that Emerald therefore should be relieved from its duty to bargain. The court
found the Board had not abused its considerable discretion in finding
the "fragmented" unit appropriate inasmuch as it constituted a cohesive
group of employees, separately supervised, a large majority of whom
were union members. In this connection, the court noted that the union
employees had a separate bargaining history of one year. The court
considered it significant that there was no evidence that Emerald expressed any doubt of the appropriateness of the unit in rejecting the
union's bargaining demands. Accordingly the court enforced the
Board's order requiring Emerald to bargain with the incumbent union.
NLRB v. Palomar Corp.,"4 subjected the bargaining techniques of
two employers to scrutiny, and found them inconsistent with the requirement of good faith implicitly contained in Section 8(a)(5) of the
Act. At issue was the employers' refusal through their single bargaining
agent, to furnish the union, upon request, financial data in support of a
claim that it was not economically feasible to maintain existing wage
rates. The employers defended on the ground that they had never made
a claim of economic inability to pay.
The Trial Examiner, the Board and the court uniformly held that the
claims made in negotiating sessions that the employers were "losing
money, '6 5 that they "were not making the profits they were entitled
to,""6 and that a unilateral wage reduction "had been put into effect in
order to preserve [their] competitive positions," 7 all were claims of
"economic inability to pay"6 8 and under the rule in NLRB v. Truitt
Mfg. Co.,"6 gave rise to the duty to produce, upon request, financial
records supporting that claim. Because the employer did not fulfill that
duty, no genuine impasse had been reached between the employers and
the union prior to the employers' subsequent unilateral reduction of
wage rates, and the reduction was therefore found to be impermissible.
63.
64.
65.
66.
67.
68.
69.

464 F.2d at 702.
465 F.2d 731.
Id. at 732.
Id. at 733.
Id. at 734.
Id. at 734.
351 U.S. 149 (1956).
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Section 8(b)(1)-Actions of Union as "Restraint or Coercion"
In NLRB v. International Bhd. of Teamsters," the court refused to
enforce a Board order based on a finding that the union, through its
secretary-treasurer, had violated Section 8(b)(l)(A)7' of the Act by
threatening certain union members engaged in a strike in violation of a
collective bargaining agreement. The court, noting that the union officer's statements were made in a membership meeting in the course of a
heated discussion concerning the wildcat strike, and that the remarks
were clearly spontaneous, held that in such a context they did not constitute a threat of reprisal, and hence were not coercive. Denying enforcement, the court concluded:
We agree with the Local that the Board arrived at a topsy-turvy result
by which the statute, designed to diminish strikes and promote industrial peace by fidelity to labor agreements, was twisted into the
basis of an injunction against the union which was striving mightily to
cool hot-headed wildcat strikers and attain compliance with no-strike
commitments.72
Sections 8(b)(3) and (4)-JurisdictionalDisputes
In Corrugated Asbestos Contractors, Inc., v. NLRB, 73 the union
apparently discovered the truth of the old addage that "there are more
ways than one to skin a cat." The employer in that case was to install
a certain type of corrugated metal siding on a building and awarded the
work to its employees represented by the Iron Workers Union. The
Sheet Metal Workers contested the assignment, and took the matter
before their local joint board which ruled in their favor. The company
appealed to the National Sheet Metal Joint Board which also held for
the Sheet Metal Workers. When the company refused to comply with
the award, the National Joint Board ordered the Sheet Metal Workers
Union to cancel its collective bargaining agreement with the company.
The company then filed 8(b)(3)74 and 8(b)(4)(D) 5 charges and the
70. 462 F.2d 201 (5th Cir. 1972).
71. 29 U.S.C. § 158(b)(1)(A) (1970), which provides in pertinent part that it shall be an unfair
labor practice for a labor organization or its agents "to restrain or coerce ... employees in the
exercise of the rights guaranteed in Section 157.
72. 462 F.2d at 204.
73. 458 F.2d 683 (5th Cir. 1972).
74. 29 U.S.C. § 158(b)(3) (1970), which provides that it is an unfair labor practice for a labor
organization which is the representative of an employer's employees "to refuse to bargain collectively with [that] employer ......
75. 29 U.S.C. § 158(b)(4)(D) (1970), which provides, in pertinent part, that it shall be an
unfair labor practice for a labor organization
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NLRB secured an injunction under Section 10(1)7 6 of the Act. The
NLRB then held a hearing under Section 10(k)77 of the Act and ultimately agreed with the company that the work had properly been assigned to the Iron Workers. The NLRB further held that the union was
not entitled by means prohibited by Section 8(b)(4)(D) of the Act to
force the company to assign work to the Sheet Metal Workers. The
union vowed compliance, but shortly thereafter disclaimed interest in
representing the company's sheet metal workers, for all practical purposes accomplishing the forbidden cancellation of the collective bargaining agreement. The Trial Examiner found that the union business
agent's statement to the effect that the union "wanted out"' ,, was inconsistent with a good faith disclaimer. The Board disagreed, and on review
the court found its conclusions supported by substantial evidence, based
on "logical inferences""9 from the testimony of the business agent, and
the reasoning of the Supreme Court in H.K. Porter Co. v. NLRB: 0
"There is nothing to establish bad faith in the union's desire to avoid
10(k) disputes with the company. We cannot force a union to continue,
against its wishes, a relationship that is in its very nature predicated
upon voluntariness and consent.""'
Appropriate Remedies
The court considered two cases"2 involving the issue of whether the
to engage in, or to induce or encourage any individual employed by any person engaged
in commerce or in an industry affecting commerce to engage in, a strike or a refusal in
the course of his employment to use, manufacture, process, transport, or otherwise
handle or work on any goods, articles, materials, or commodities or to perform any
services; or . . .to threaten, coerce, or restrain any person engaged in commerce or in
an industry affecting commerce, wherein either case an object thereof is, . . .forcing
or requiring any employer to assign particular work to employees in a particular labor
organization or in a particular trade, craft, or class rather than to employees in another
labor organization or in another trade, craft, or class, unless such employer is failing to
conform to an order or certification of the Board determining the bargaining representative for employees performing such work...
76. 29 U.S.C. § 160(l) (1970), which gives authority to the NLRB to seek injunctive relief,
if, upon investigation, there is reasonable cause to believe that a violation of Section 8(b)(4)(D),
among others, has taken place.
77. 29 U.S.C. § 160(k) (1970), which gives the Board authority to determine jurisdictional
disputes of the nature described in Section 8(b)(4)(D).
78. 458 F.2d at 687.
79. Id.
80. 397 U.S. 99 (1970).
81. 458 F.2d at 687.
82. Texas Gulf Sulphur Co. v. NLRB, 463 F.2d 778 (5th Cir. 1972): NLRB v. IUOE, Local
925, 460 F.2d 589 (5th Cir. 1972).
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Board acted within its remedial authority. One of the cases involved an
employer and the other a union.
In Texas Gulf Sulphur Co. v. NLRB,83 the court held per curiam that
the Board acted within its authority in ordering a company found to
have violated Sections 8(a)(l) and (3) of the Act at one of its plants to
post appropriate notices not only at the plant where the unfair labor
practices were committed, but also at other facilities within the particular division of the company located within the same geographical area.
In NLRB v. UOE, Local 925,11 the court reviewed complicated back
pay proceedings arising from concededly flagrant discrimination by a
union against a union member who had unsuccessfully sought election
to the post of business manager.
The litigation began in 1963 when, after the union began systematically to deprive the unsuccessful candidate of the rights of union membership, he filed unfair labor practice charges. The union continued its
course of illegal conduct, resulting in one unfair labor practice hearing
and a subsequent back pay specification hearing. 5 The back pay hearing
concerned liability not only for the litigated unfair labor practices, but
also for illegal conduct occurring subsequent to the unfair labor practice
hearing. The Trial Examiner found back pay liability for all illegal
conduct, and the union sought review, which the court denied.
The court held that under the doctrine of NLRB v. Fant Milling
Co., 6 Section 10(b)87 of the Act did not require that a new charge be
filed to support later Board proceedings on illegal conduct occurring
after that litigated in the original unfair labor practice hearing. Secondly, the court held that the back pay specification which preceded the
back pay hearing met all of the requirements of a complaint, and it was
not defective merely because it was not captioned "Complaint and
Notice of Hearing. 8 Finally, the court concluded after examination
of the 5,400 pages of transcribed testimony taken during 40 days at
the back pay hearing, that the issue of whether or not illegal conduct
83. 463 F.2d 778.
84. 460 F.2d 589.
85. Issued pursuant to NLRB Rule 102.52, 29 C.F.R. § 102.52 (1970). The back pay specification starts the procedure for the resolution of a controversy between the Board and a Respondent
concerning the back pay due.
86. 360 U.S. 301 (1959).
87. 29 U.S.C. § 160(b) (1970), which provides in pertinent part "that no complaint shall issue
based on any unfair labor practice occurring more than six months prior to the filing of the charge
.... This is the statute of limitations for unfair labor practices.
88. This is the normal title of a complaint under Section 10, but the Board rules do not provide
the manner in which a complaint is to be labeled. See NLRB RULES AND REGS. § 102.15, 29
C.F.R. § 102.15 (1970).
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actually occurred had indeed been fully litigated, and was supported
by substantial evidence. The court therefore enforced the back pay
award upon the union over seven years after the first charge was filed.
Unfortunately, during the interim, the union member who was the
object of the flagrantly illegal conduct had died.
In addition to holding the union responsible for the back pay liability,
the Board had also assessed personal liability for back pay against the
business manager who had successfully defeated the union member in
the election, and was apparently the prime mover in the union's unlawful retaliatory conduct. Noting the Board policy of not holding agents
of unions liable for back pay where the union itself is liable, and further
noting that the Board did not in its opinion set forth any reason for
departing from that policy in the instant case, the court vacated that
portion of the Board's order holding the business agent personally responsible and remanded it for further proceedings. The court refused to
rule, however, as the union had contended, that Section 10(c)8" prohibited the imposition of personal back pay liability on individual union
officers.
Procedures Under Section 9 (Representation Cases)
All of the cases dealing with representation questions, with the exception of one involving the Board's "blocking charge" rule,9" were considered by the court in the context of an alleged violation by the employer
of Section 8(a)(5) of the Act. This, of course, has become the vehicle
for court review of questions surrounding the Board's conduct of representation elections. 9'
Procedure
The major procedural issue considered by the court remains the question of whether the Board should have held an adversary hearing on
employer's objections to conduct affecting the results of elections.
In NLRB v. Overland Hauling,Inc.,9" the court held a hearing should
have been granted in an election in which the union won by two votes
89. 29 U.S.C. § 160(c) (1970), which provides the authority for assessing back pay: [W]here
an order directs reinstatement of an employee, back pay may be required of the employer or labor
organization, as the case may be, responsible for the discrimination suffered by him .... "
90. Surratt v. NLRB, 463 F.2d 378 (5th Cir. 1972); See note 57 supra for an explanation of
the "blocking charge" rule.
91. See, e.g., Beaird and Sutter, Labor Law and Related Social Legislation, Annual Fifth
Circuit Survey, 22 MERCER L. REV. 697, 721, nn. 148 & 149 (1971).
92. 461 F.2d 944 (5th Cir. 1972).
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in a 100-man unit. The court noted that the company's objections alleged specific acts, and that the company proferred specific evidence of
those acts. 3 The evidence consisted of affidavits of employees alleging
that they were threatened by union adherents, that union agents bought
them beer, and that union representatives made a "guarantee" that if
the union were elected, wages and working conditions would be substantially in excess of those in effect prior to the election.94 The court commented: "Although we do not discount the investigation of the objections made by the Regional Director, we cannot say that such an ex
parte investigation produces talismanically perfect results in all cases.
[This] is especially true where the election is close and the objections
raised are substantial."9 5
The Board also remanded for a hearing the case of Gulton Industries,
Inc. v. NLRB." The issue on which hearing was directed was whether
the company had sufficient opportunity to correct a conceded misrepresentation by the union regarding wage increases it allegedly secured at
another division of the employer.
In NLRB v. Gooch Packing Co.,97 the union won an election by two
votes in a unit of over 150 employees. The company objected to the
conduct of an employee-organizer who allegedly stated falsely, in the
presence of several employees, that she had earned substantially more
money in a similar job in a union plant than she was with the employer.
As an attachment to its brief the company submitted the collective
bargaining agreement of the company at which the employee claimed
she had worked, which showed her statement regarding wages to be
false. There was an issue, however, as to whether or not the Board
received a copy of that collective bargaining agreement, the company
contending that it was submitted to the Regional Director, and the
Regional Director denying that it was received. The court ordered that
an adversary hearing be held to determine whether or not the Regaional
Director was furnished a copy of the contract. It ordered further that if
the Board found the contract was supplied, it should proceed to conduct
a hearing on the company's objections, but if it was found that the
contract was not received, the Board should certify that finding and the
record upon which it was based to the court.
93. See United States Rubber Co. v. NLRB, 373 F.2d 602 (5th Cir. 1967).
94. While the evidence wasn't specified in the reported opinion, the Board decision describes
the evidence submitted by the employer in the case. Overland Hauling, Inc., 187 N.L.R.B. No.
40, 76 L.R.R.M. 1533 (1970).
95. 461 F.2d at 947.
96. 469 F.2d 1371 (5th Cir. 1972).
97. 457 F.2d 361 (5th Cir. 1971).

MERCER LAW REVIEW

[Vol. 24

Union Misrepresentation
NLRB v. Cactus Drilling Corp.98 involved a Permian Basin election"
held under the "Hondo eligibility formula."'' 0 In that case, the company
filed objections which alleged among other things that some two weeks
before the election, the union distributed a letter claiming that if the
union lost the election, competitors of the employer would take away
raises already granted. Because the "Hondo eligibility rule" allows employees employed by competitors to vote in the election, the employer
claimed that this statement tainted the election and destroyed the laboratory conditions.
The Regional Director directed a hearing be held on the employer's
objections, but the hearing officer recommended that the objections be
denied. The case wended its way to the Fifth Circuit where, after nearly
five years, the employer's objections were found meritorious and the
election was set aside.
The court again reiterated its four-part test for evaluating questioned
campaign communications,' and applying the test found that it was
met by the union's statement concerning wage roll-backs. First the court
found the statement was really a material misrepresentation because the
action to be taken by the employer's competitors would not have depended upon the competitive structure in the Permian Basin. It was a
material misrepresentation because, as noted above, eligible voters included employees of competitors who had already secured wage increases. Secondly, the court found the union business agent was in an
authoritative position to know what was said to him by representatives
of the employer's competitors. Third, the court found, even though the
statements were made two weeks before the election, the company did
not have an opportunity to reply and to correct the misrepresentation.
It felt that because of the nature of the misrepresentation, an attempt
by the company to reply would not only have been futile, but would also
98. 455 F.2d 871 (5th Cir. 1972).
99. Over the past five or six years, there has been a concentrated effort by several unions to
organize "roughnecks" who work on the oil rigs in that area. The industry consists of a number
of drilling companies, all of which draw from the same labor supply. The nature of the oil business
is such that employees frequently go from company to company depending on where work may
be found.
100. This rule extends voting eligibility not only to "roughnecks" currently employed, but also
to all "roughnecks" who had been with the company for a minimum of 10 working days during
the 90 calendar day period preceding the issuance of the election order. See, NLRB v. Hondo
Drilling Co., 428 F.2d 943 (5th Cir. 1970). See also, Pepperell Mfg. Co. v. NLRB, 403 F.2d 520
(5th Cir. 1968), cert. denied, 395 U.S. 922 (1969).
101. 455 F.2d at 876.
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have "served only to underscore in the voters' minds the Union's
poisonous misrepresentation."'' 2 Finally, the court found there was no
way that the employees could have evaluated the statements made by
the union in this case.
The court also rejected the Board's contention that, in the interests
of discouraging post-election litigation, the Board was justified in applying the rule in Hollywood Ceramics'"3 somewhat mechanistically, citing
and quoting extensively from Tyler Pipe and Foundry Co. v. NLRB. 04
In Gulton Industries Inc. v. NLRB,0 5 the court held, in agreement
with the Board, that a pamphlet distributed by the union contained
material misrepresentations on its cover which were not cured by the
fine print on the inside. As noted above, however, the court remanded
the case to the Board for a hearing on whether the company had opportunity to reply in light of the fact that the leaflet was distributed 26 hours
prior to the election.
In NLRB v. Monroe Auto Equipment Co.,'"' the court considered a
case which had been before it previously. The first time the court had
considered the case, it found the company's objections raised substantial
issues of material fact warranting a hearing, and remanded the case to
the Board. After hearing, the Board found the company had not shown
that the allegedly objectionable conduct had any effect on the election,
and therefore certified the union. This time, the court agreed with the
Board despite the company's contention that the effect of the objectionable conduct should be presumed:
The company's arguments failed to discern the meaningful difference
between questionable activities attributable to an employer, a union,
and individual employees . . . .It has been recognized that activities
of a union's employee adherence [sic] which are not attributable to the
union itself are entitled to less weight in the variable equation which
07
leads to a conclusion that an election must be set aside.1
The court cited Bush Hog Inc. v. NLRB'00 for the proposition that
conduct not attributable to the opposing party cannot be relied upon to
set the election aside unless the conduct was so aggravated that a free
expression of choice of representatives is impossible. The court decided
102.
103.
104.
105.
106.
107.
108.

Id.
Hollywood Ceramics Co., 140 N.L.R.B. 221 (1962).
406 F,2d 1272 (5th Cir. 1969).
469 F.2d 1371 (5th Cir. 1972).
470 F.2d 1329 (5th Cir. 1972).
Id. at 1332.
420 F,2d 1266 (5th Cir. 1969).
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that in the case before it, the evidence did not show that the conduct in
question rose to that level.
Appropriate Unit
The court considered three cases in which employers contended that
the Board's findings of the appropriateness of the bargaining units in
question were in error. In NLRB v. Alterman Transport Lines, Inc., 09
the court found it within the discretion of the Board to hold a single
terminal unit rather than a state-wide unit as appropriate under the
circumstances and that over-the-road drivers had no community of interest with local drivers and hence were properly excluded from the unit.
This was so, despite contrary Board rulings involving the same company, and despite the fact that the extent of organizational activity
coincided with the local drivers. The court noted the Board's opinion
was decided on the basis of a 7,000 page record, was extremely thorough
and weighed all the relevant factors.
In NLRB v. Overland Hauling, Inc.,"' another trucking industry
case, the court held it was within the Board's discretion to find, contrary
to company contentions, that drivers who owned several tractors were
supervisors within the meaning of the Act, and that mechanics did not
share a community of interest with the drivers, and hence should be
excluded from the unit. The court noted that evidence that the ownerdrivers recommended the hiring of helpers substantiated the Board's
finding of supervisory status, and noted it within the Board's discretion
to either include or exclude the mechanics as it saw fit, commenting:
"Although there are no absolute 'right' units, the Board's determination
will not be disturbed unless the choice has been made in a manner
violative of the statute.""'
The Board reiterated that principle in NLRB v. J.M. Wood Mfg.
Co.,"' where it held the Board was within its discretion in finding that
the employer's main base plant, which performed centralized services
for the entire company, was an appropriate unit rather than an overall
company unit, consisting of three additional satellite sewing plants,
noting that "the Board need choose only an appropriate unit, not the
most appropriate unit.""'
109.
I10.
Ill.
112.
113.

465 F.2d 950 (5th Cir. 1972).
461 F.2d 944 (5th Cir. 1972).
Id. at 946.
466 F.2d 201 (5th Cir. 1972).
Id. at 202.
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Thus, it continues to be a difficult task to contest successfully the
Board's unit determination findings.
"Blocking Charge" Rule
In Surratt v. NLRB,"4 the court followed its decision in Templeton
v. Dixie Color Printing Co."' and ordered the Board to investigate and
act upon a decertification petition notwithstanding the fact that an unfair labor practice charge against the employer in the case was pending.
The court rejected the Board's contention that the rule in Templeton
should not be applied because the delay occasioned by the application
of the blocking rule in the instant case was minimal in comparison with
that in Templeton, considering that that was a difference only in degree
and not in controlling principle. The court stated:
The crucial considerations in this case are that the rights of the employees would be seriously jeopardized if we sustained the Board action
merely to avoid a collision with the Board's general "blocking charge
practice." More specifically the Board should not be allowed to apply
its "blocking charge practice" as a per se rule without exercising its
discretion to make a careful determination in each individual case
whether the violation alleged is such that consideration of the election
petition ought to be delayed or dismissed."'
Since such a determination was not made by the Board in the case
before it, the court affirmed the order of the District Court directing the
Board to investigate the decertification petition and to determine
whether or not there was reasonable cause to believe that a question
concerning representation affecting commerce exists.
Civil Contempt
In NLRB v. Johnson Manufacturing Co." 7 the Board sought a contempt order against an employer which had allegedly continued in a
course of "surface bargaining""' conduct, despite an order of the court
requiring it to cease and desist from refusing to bargain with a union.
The case was before the court on Board exceptions to a special master's
114. 463 F.2d 378 (5th Cir. 1972).
115. 444 F.2d 1064 (5th Cir. 1971).
116. 463 F.2d at 381.
117. 458 F.2d 453 (5th Cir. 1972).
118. This is a shorthand term for a course of conduct in violation of a party's duty to bargain
in good faith pursuant to Section 8(a)(5), and 8(d) characterized by going through the motions of
bargaining with a fixed intent not to reach agreement.
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report and recommendations which had concluded that the Board failed
to show by clear and convincing evidence any contemptuous conduct,
and that the petition should therefore be denied.
The court rejected the Board's contention that the company was
proved guilty of contemptuous conduct by its failure to provide the
union with requested information concerning the company's wage adjustment system for merit increases. The court agreed with the master's
conclusion that the company had explained how the system worked in
general, and had answered all of the union's specific questions concerning it. Since the company had shown that 98 per cent of the employees
had received a "normal" rating under the merit increase system, the
court agreed with the special master that there was no clear and convincing evidence of the company's failure to bargain merely because it could
not explain to the satisfaction of the union the 2 per cent deviation from
the norm.
The court found merit, however, in the Board's contention that the
company was in contempt of an earlier order by continuing to indulge
in a course of conduct of "surface bargaining." The company's deficiencies in this regard, found to have been proved before the special master,
were that it insisted on (a) retaining unilateral and final control over
periodic wage increases, employee qualifications, discipline and working
rules, job assignments, working hours, wage levels and other conditions
of employment such as sick leave; (b) having in the agreement a management rights clause preserving rights not specifically surrendered by
terms of the agreement; (c) having in the agreement a "zipper clause;" ' '
and (d) the union relinquishing in the contract its role in the adjustment
of grievances.
In addition to issuing a new cease and desist order, the court ordered
the company to take the usual affirmative action, and, in addition,
specifically ordered the company to eliminate its continued and rigid,
insistence upon unilateral, complete and final control over all aspects
of the wages and working conditions "found by the Board to be unreasonable,"' 2 and to eliminate its continued insistence upon the union's
relinquishment of "statutory rights of effective participation in grievance negotiation and the settlement of labor disputes." 2
Finally, and notably, in connection with the wage adjustment plan,
119. This is a clause designed to prevent a party from bargaining, during the term of the
agreement, over any matters previously discussed in the contract negotiations.
120. 458 F.2d at 456.
121. Id.
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the court ordered the following, even though it had not found the company guilty of contemptuous conduct in that respect:
[T]hat the company begin immediately, in connection with its merit
wage adjustment plan, the specific evaluation of all employees making
available to the union these evaluations in substance and result, and
promptly enter into good faith negotiations with the Union for a restructuring of the standards of employee evaluation used under the
merit wage adjustment plan to the end that the union may be effective
as the bargaining agent in the area of merit increases .12
The validity of this portion of the court's order seems doubtful under
the doctrine of H.K. Porter Co. v. NLRB, 13 in that it in effect imposes
upon the company the requirment of maintaining a rational or effective
wage adjustment plan, whereas in the past, the company was either
unable or unwilling to do anything more than say that such a plan
existed in name only. What makes this portion of the order even more
questionable, is that it was issued despite a finding that the company
was not in contempt of a prior court order relevant to the merit wage
adjustment plan.
Cases Under Section 301
Only two cases arising under Section 301124 were decided by the court
during the year. One 25 involved a suit to compel arbitration, and the
other 12 an action by an employer seeking an injunction from a strike
allegedly in violation of a collective bargaining agreement.
In Jacksonville Pressmen No. 57 v. Florida Publishing Co., 27 the
union sought arbitration of a grievance before a neutral. The collective
bargaining agreement between the parties unambiguously provided that
all disputes under the collective bargaining agreement be decided by a
Joint Standing Committee consisting of two representatives of the employer and two representatives of the union. Since each side was willing
to arbitrate, the only issue was the composition of the arbitral forum.
The union contended that there was an oral agreement between it and
the company to use a neutral as had been done prior to the execution
of the agreement in effect. The court affirmed the district court's dis122.
123.
124.
125.
126.
127.

Id. at 457.
397 U.S. 99 (1970).
29 U.S.C. § 185 (1970).
Jacksonville Pressmen No. 57 v. Florida Publishing Co., 468 F.2d 824 (5th Cir. 1972).
Amstar Corp. v. Amalgamated Meat Cutters, 468 F.2d 1372 (5th Cir. 1972).
468 F.2d 824.
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missal of the complaint, reasoning that the union's contention was really
a question itself involving the interpretation and application of the
collective bargaining agreement, and should have been brought before
the Joint Standing Committee, instead of to court.
In Amstar Corp. v. Amalgamated Meat Cutters,'28 the court held a
strike could not be enjoined under the doctrine of Boys Markets,"9 when
the only allegedly arbitrable dispute involved was the legality of the
strike sought to be enjoined. The company had at least four facilities,
three in the northeast and represented by the Longshoremen, and one
in Louisiana represented by the Meatcutters. The employer's collective
bargaining agreement with the Longshoremen, covering the three northeastern plants, had expired, while its agreement with the Meatcutters
containing a no-strike clause was still in effect. The Longshoremen
engaged in an economic strike, apparently to enforce their demands
regarding a new contract, and picketed not only the northeast plants,
but also the employer's Louisiana facility. When the picketing began,
the Meatcutters refused to cross Longshoremen picket lines, and remained away from work. The employer sought an injunction under the
authority of Boys Markets against the Meatcutters which was granted
by the district court upon the condition that the parties submit the
question of the validity of the strike to arbitration.
The Fifth Circuit reversed, reasoning that the Meatcutters strike:
was not "over a grievance" which the parties were contractually bound
to arbitrate. Rather, the strike itself precipitated the dispute-the validity under the Union's no-strike obligation of the member-employees
honoring the ILA picket line. Were we to hold that the legality of the
very strike sought to be enjoined in the present situation constituted a
sufficiently arbitrable underlying dispute for a Boys Markets injunction to issue, it 0is difficult to conceive of any strike which could not
3
be so enjoined.'
Noting the Boys Markets holding was a "narrow one" not intended
to undermine the vitality of the anti-injunction provisions of the Norris
LaGuardia Act, 3 ' the court held the district court without jurisdiction
to enter the injunction.
While the court's decision in Amstar appears to be analytically correct, it equally appears to point up a glaring difficulty for employers
under the reasoning of Boys Markets. The decision in Amstar does not
128.
129.
130.
131.

468 F.2d 1372.
Boys Markets, Inc. v. Retail Clerks Local 770, 398 U.S. 235 (1970).
468 F.2d at 1373.
29 U.S.C. § 101 (1970).
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reveal whether the employer's collective bargaining agreement with the
Meatcutters contained an agreement by the union not to honor picket
lines, as well as not to strike during the term of the contract. Even if it
had, injunctive relief would have presumably been equally unavailable
to the employer, and its only remedy would have been to take disciplinary action against the employees who honored the picket line in breach
of the contract and to sue the union for damages under section 301. Such
a remedy would be small consolation to the customers of an employer
whose entire 500-man operation was shut down in violation of a nostrike clause.
Arbitration
In Rios v. Reynolds Metals Co., 32 the court came to grips with the
issue it had left for the future in Hutchings v. United States Industries,
Inc.,' 3 and decided that a court could properly defer to arbitration in
Title VI11 4 cases if certain requirements were present. While the court
noted the inequity of giving an employee but not the employer a second
chance to have a question concerning racial discrimination resolved, and
also noted that such a requirement would tend to frustrate the national
policy favoring arbitration, the court was willing to do no more than
set forth in some detail, very limited circumstances under which the
courts could defer to arbitration. The court held under no circumstances
could there be deference "unless the contractual right coincides with
rights under Title VII [and] . . .that the arbitrator's decision is in no
way violative of the private rights guaranteed by Title VII, nor of the
public policy which inheres in Title VII."'' 3 After these two requirements are met, the district court, in order to defer must also be satisfied:
(1) the factual issues before it are identical to those decided by the
arbitrator; (2) the arbitrator had power under the collective
[bargaining] agreement to decide the ultimate issue of discrimination;
(3) the evidence presented at the arbitral hearing dealt adequately with
all factual issues; (4) the arbitrator actually decided the factual issues
presented to the court; (5) the arbitration proceeding was fair and
regular and free of procedural infirmities. The burden of proof in
132. 467 F.2d 54 (5th Cir. 1972).
133. 428 F.2d 303 (5th Cir. 1970); and see Beaird and Sutter, Labor Law and Related Social
Legislation, Annual Fifth Circuit Survey, 22 MERCER L. REV. 697, 705 (1971) for a discussion of
some of the possible problems arising out of the court's decision in Hutchings.
134. Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. §§ 1971 et seq. (1970).
135. 467 F.2d at 58.
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establishing these conditions of limitation will be upon the respondent
as distinguishedfrom the claimant.3'

It is readily apparent that employers will have a difficult time establishing the conditions for deference to an arbitrator's award in Title VII
cases.
NORRIS LAGUARDIA ACT

The court held in Port of Houston v. InternationalOrganization of
Masters137 the Norris LaGuardia Act 38 prohibits a federal district
court from granting injunctive relief in a labor dispute even though
foreign trade or commerce is affected. The employer sought to enjoin
the peaceful picketing by union members of foreign vessels berthed in
the Houston port. The picket communications were directed at the
public and told of declining job opportunities for American seamen
allegedly caused by the use of foreign vessels, and of alleged substandard
wages and working conditions on the foreign vessels. The public was
asked not to patronize the vessels, and as a result, certain workers
refused to cross the picket line and the ships were not being unloaded.
The court held, on the authority of Marine Cooks & Stewards v. Panama Steamship Co.,'39 which it found to be squarely on point, that a
labor dispute existed, and that the Norris LaGuardia Act prevented
injunctive relief notwithstanding any alleged effect on foreign commerce.
RAILWAY LABOR ACT

During the year, the court decided two cases under the Railway Labor
Act. 40 In the first, REA Express, Inc. v. Brotherhood of Railway
Clerks,'4 ' the court held, in disagreement with a district court, that
changes by an employer in its trucking operations (including changes in
method of pay, hours of service, policy regarding layovers, domicile and
seniority rights), gave rise to a "minor" dispute, because it was "arguably governed" by the terms of the collective bargaining agreement, and
implementing instruments. The parties were therefore bound to submit
136.
137.
138.
139.
140.
141.

Id. (emphasis added).
456 F.2d 50 (5th Cir. 1972).
29 U.S.C. § 101 (1970).
362 U.S. 365 (1960).
45 U.S.C. § 151 (1970).
459 F.2d 226 (5th Cir. 1972).
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the dispute to the mandatory grievance procedures 4 ' of the Railway
Labor Act. The court also vacated the order of the district court ordering the employer to rescind. the changes it had made, and restore the
status quo, which the district court had stayed, pending appeal.
This case involved a very complicated set of facts, and both the district court and the court of appeals took great pains to analyze thoroughly those facts to determine whether the action taken by the employer was "arguably" authorized by the collective bargaining agreement. The Fifth Circuit's decision was by a count of two to one, the
dissenting judge adopting verbatim the opinion of the district court. It
is apparent that the dispute in this case comes very close to the dividing
line between a "major" and a "minor" dispute, and is significant for
that reason.
The second case decided under the Railway Labor Act was Turner v.
Air Transport Dispatcher's Association.'43 In that case the court held
it was not a violation of the "duty of fair representation"' 44 for a union
representing domestic employees to refuse to process the grievance of
an employee who sought, contrary to express provisions in the collective
bargaining agreement, to require foreign service be credited to that
employee on the domestic seniority list. The court noted, "A union's
broad discretion in prosecuting grievance complaints includes not only
the right to settle the dispute short of arbitration but also to refuse to
initiate the first steps in the appeal procedure when it believes the grievance to be without merit."'4 5
Finding that the union's interpretation of the collective bargaining
agreement, and its resultant finding that the grievance was without
merit, was not only "plausible" but indeed the only possible interpretation of the collective bargaining agreement, the court concluded the
union's motion for summary judgment was properly granted by the
district court.
142. 45 U.S.C. § 153 (1970) mandates, in essence, compulsory arbitration of disputes involving interpretation and application of collective bargaining agreements between parties subject to
the Railway Labor Act.
143. 468 F.2d 297 (5th Cir. 1972).
144. For cases developing full discussions of a union's duty of fair representation, see Vaca v.
Sipes, 386 U.S. 171 (1967), a case involving the Labor Management Relations Act, and Humphrey
v. Moore, 375 U.S. 335 (1964), a case involving the Railway Labor Act.
145. 468 F.2d at 300.
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FAIR LABOR STANDARDS ACT

Coverage
In Bowman v. Texas Educational Foundation, Inc. 4 ' the court refused to apply the requirements of Section 7 of the Fair Labor Standards Act to the Economic Opportunity Act' 47 with respect to the salary
to be legally paid for individuals employed by the Job Corps. Certain
Job Corps employees claimed that they should have been paid overtime
premium for "sleeping time." The court was neither impressed by the
legal contentions of the plaintiffs, nor amused by their claims:
It appears to this court that these plaintiffs have taken the tail of one
dog, engrafted it onto the posterior of another dog, and asked this
court to force the surrogate tail to wag its new engraftee. The result
of the plaintiffs' request, as the 14animal
just conjured, is both absurd
8
and offensive to the sensibilities.
After a detailed analysis of the provisions of the Economic Opportunity
Act and the Fair Labor Standards Act, and the respective legislative
histories, the court picturesquely concluded:
We have taken the contrapuntal approach to this case not because the
trial court's symphonies of decision are necessarily disharmonious as
contra-indicative, but simply because we believe that Congress, as the
caller of compensatory tunes, could have but did not command itself
to pay its quasi somnolent pipers as though the were commercial musi9
cians. 1

The court was somewhat more receptive to arguments advanced, this
time by the Department of Labor, seeking to place under the shelter of
the Fair Labor Standards Act employees of the operator of a Shreveport, Louisiana office building. At issue in Hodgson v. Travis Edwards,
Inc., 150 was the scope of "enterprise" coverage' 5' under the 1961 amendments to the Act and more specifically, whether the operator of the
building had employees involved "in commerce"'5 2 within the meaning
of the Act.
146. 454 F.2d 1097 (5th Cir. 1972).
147. 42 U.S.C. § 2701 (1970).
148. 454 F.2d at 1098.
149. Id.at 1103.
150. 465 F.2d 1050 (5th Cir. 1972).
151. An employer's business is covered under "enterprise" coverage if he has annual gross sales
in excess of $500,000 and, inter alia, has employees "engaged in commerce or in the production of
goods for commerce . . .including employees handling, selling, or otherwise working on goods
that have been moved in or produced for commerce." 29 U.S.C. § 203(s) (1970).
152. Id.
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The court, noting that the office employees regularly and customarily
maintained records and prepared reports therefrom which they then
mailed out of state to the president of the corporation, concluded that
by virtue of such regular interstate communications with executive personnel, the employees were "engaged" in commerce or were producing
"goods" for commerce. The court rejected the defendant's argument
that the use of the mails was merely incidental to the operation of a
purely local business while stating that it did not agree "that what a
corporation such as this one finds it worth paying its employees to do
and which must consume a substantial portion of their time on the job
is not a part of that business' profit making activities."' 53
In Hodgson v. Royal Crown Bottling Co., 54 the court decided per
curiam that the unloading and loading of returnable bottles which ultimately wind up in interstate commerce constitutes work covered by the
Act.
Record Keeping and Hours Worked
Hoover v. Wyandotte Chemicals Corp. 55 involved the definition of
"hours worked" under the Portal to Portal Act.' In this case, the
collective bargaining agreement between the company and the union
representing its employees provided for 15 minutes per day with pay for
employees to change clothes. During negotiations for the current collective bargaining agreement, the union had sought, unsuccessfully, to
increase the time from 15 to 25 minutes, claiming that 15 minutes was
not sufficient. When the company continued to pay only for 15 minutes,
in accordance with the terms of its collective bargaining agreement,
certain of its employees brought an action claiming all time spent changing clothes was "hours worked" within the meaning of the Act, and
arguing that in light of the negotiations, there was no longer a "custom
or practice" under the collective bargaining agreement to exclude
change time from hours worked.
Finding itself "somewhat chagrined" by plaintiff's contentions, the
153. 465 F.2d at 1053.
154. 465 F.2d 473 (5th Cir. 1972).
155. 455 F.2d 387 (5th Cir. 1972).
156. 29 U.S.C. § 203(o) (1970) provides, in pertinent part:
In determining for the purposes of Sections 206 and 207 of this Title [the minimum wage
and overtime requirements of the Act], the hours for which an employee is employed,
there shall be excluded any time spent in changing clothes or washing at the beginning
or end of each work day which was excluded from measured working time during the
week involved by the express terms of or by custom or practice under a bona fide
collective-bargaining agreement applicable to the particular employee.
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court rejected them, noting that the union's abandonment of its demand
for more change time indicated acquiescence in the 15 minute rule, and
that approval of those contentions would amount to a holding that what
a union fails to achieve through the process of collective bargaining
would be delivered to it under the Fair Labor Standards Act. The
district court's summary judgment in favor of the defendants was therefore affirmed.
In Brumbelow v v. Quality Mills, Inc., 57 the court held an employer
not responsible for hours one of its home working employees may have
worked, when she knowingly concealed from the employer, by falsifying
her own records, that she had worked those hours. There was no evidence in that case that the employer either encouraged the employee's
concealment of her actual hours worked or that he had actual knowledge of the falsification. The court held the employer's utilization of a
minimum required production was not alone enough to impose employer liability for the employee who, in order to maintain her job,
understated the number of hours worked. The evidence revealed the
production standards were realistic, and employees regularly did and
could produce the required number of units in the time required. Thus,
the court was not presented with the situation in which the employer
knew or had reason to believe that the information reported by his
employees was inaccurate.'5 8
Minimum Wage
In Mayhue's Super Liquor Stores, Inc. v. Hodgson,'59 the court held
deductions made pursuant to an agreement between an employer and
employee requiring that the employee reimburse the employer for any
shortages at his assigned cash register, violated the minimum wage
provisions of the Act'60 to the extent that such deductions reduce his
"regular rate"'' below the minimum wage. The court found that such
an agreement tended
to shift part of the employer's business expense to the employees and
was illegal to the extent that it reduced an employee's wage below the
statutory minimum. This amounts to nothing more than an agreement
157. 462 F.2d 1324 (5th Cir. 1972).
158. The court intimated that such a situation might have dictated a contrary result, citing
Wirtz v. Carolina Co., 255 F. Supp. 417 (M.D.N.C. 1966).
159. 464 F.2d 1196 (5th Cir. 1972).
160. 29 U.S.C. § 206 (1970).
161. 29 U.S.C. § 207(e) (1970).
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to waive the minimum wage requirements of the Fair Labor Standards
Act. Such an agreement is invalid.162
Exemptions
6 3 involvThe court decided only one case, Hodgson v. Wittenburg,1
ing the interpretation of a statutory exemption under the Act. This case
involved the exemption contained in Section 13(a)(6)' 4 from the minimum wage, overtime and record-keeping requirements of the Act for
any employee "employed in agriculture."'' 5 The employees in question
were primarily engaged in the handling, care and feeding of livestock
purchased by their employer for immediate resale. The court held such
activities did not constitute "agricultural" work within the meaning of
the Act because they were not "incident to or in conjunction with...
farming operations."'' 6 That the employees performed duties in connection with the care and feeding of the employer's own livestock during
each workweek in question was held to be not determinative under what
the court termed the government's "long-standing position"'' 7 that employees were not exempt during any workweek in which they performed
non-agricultural work.

Equal Pay Act of 1963
Despite the Department of Labor's recent emphasis on achieving
compliance with the Equal Pay Act,'68 only one such case reached the
court last year. In Hodgson v. Golden Isles Convalescent Home, Inc.,'69
the government failed to convince the court that as a matter of law,
aides and orderlies perform "equal work" within the meaning of the
Equal Pay Act in hospitals and nursing homes all across the country.
Shunning such a per se approach, the court held such issues must be
decided on a case by case basis under the facts of each case, and not on
an industry wide basis. The court noted the following pertinent legislative history:
By substituting the term "equal work" for "comparable work," which
162.
163.
164.
165.
166.
167.
168.
169.

464 F.2d at 1199.
464 F.2d 1219 (5th Cir. 1972).
29 U.S.C. § 213(a)(6) (1970).
Id.
29 U.S.C. § 203(0 (1970).
464 F.2d at 1221.
29 U.S.C. § 206(b)(I) (1970).
468 F.2d 1256 (5th Cir. 1972).

846
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was originally suggested, Congress manifested its intent to narrow the
applicability of the Act.
• . . It is not merely comparable skill and responsibility that Con-

gress sought to address, but a substantial identity of job functions.
Furthermore, Congress intended to permit employers wide discretion
in evaluating work for pay purposes. In the House Subcommittee
Report on the Equal Pay Act, .

.

. examples were debated to illus-

trate that a wage differential can be justified for employees who are
available to perform an important differentiating task even though
they do not spend large amounts of time at that task. Again, this
approach requires examination of equal
work claims in the light of
170
employment.
particular
the
in
practice
The court then held the evidence before the district court supported
its finding that the work done by the orderlies in that case was sufficiently different from the work done by the aides to justify the difference
in pay scales.'
Age DiscriminationAct. of 1967
In Hodgson v. First Federal Savings & Loan Association' the court
held a prima facie case of age discrimination was established by the
government's statistical evidence to the effect that for a period of over
a year after the effective date of the Age Discrimination Act,' not a
single person within the age group protected by that Act was hired by
the employer, and by its evidence that defendant's representative wrote
"too old for teller" on his notes for an interview with a 47 year old
employee who was rejected for the job of teller. The court further held
the burden of proof therefore shifted to the employer to show that it had
sufficient reasons other than age for rejecting the employee, and found
the evidence insufficient to prove the employer's contention that the
employee had been rejected because of her physical incapacity, rather
than her age.
The court then went on to find merit in the Department of Labor's
contention that the district court should have awarded back pay and
should not have limited the injunction by allowing the employer to
170. Id. at 1258.
171. The District Court found the following tasks were not performed by aides: insertion of
catheters, total lifting, irrigation of catheters, setting up traction apparatus, returning patients who
had gone out of the building or who had wandered off, setting up oxygen tanks, and being required
to "float" to help in the rest of the nursing home, as opposed to being assigned to one particular
department.
172. 455 F.2d 818 (5th Cir. 1972).
173. 29 U.S.C. § 623(a)(1).
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refuse to hire employees within the protected age bracket who "for
whatever reason"'74 may not have the necessary qualifications to perform the job in question. The court therefore ordered that the employee
be granted back pay and that the offending sentence in the lower courts
ordered be stricken.
PROCEDURE AND RELIEF

In Hodgson v. Charles Martin Inspectors of Petroleum, Inc.,'75 the
court held the Secretary of Labor was entitled, under the doctrine of
"informer's privilege,"' 76 to withhold the statements of certain of the
defendant-employer's former employees and from all present employees
for whom a claim was being asserted, whose identity had already been
disclosed to the defendant-employer.
The court held the possibility of retaliation was not "remote and
speculative"' 77 as to former employees because such employees could be
severely handicapped in their efforts to obtain new jobs if the defendant
employer should brand them as "informers" when references were
sought, because he could be subject to retaliation by his new employer
if that employer found out that the employee had in the past cooperated
with the Secretary of Labor, and because he might desire to be reemployed with the employer in question. As to the present employees, the
court felt the Secretary was entitled to withhold even statements of
employees who were known to the employer to have given statements,
because disclosing the content of the statements would reveal whether
the information was given reluctantly or voluntarily, or whether the tone
and manner in which it was given was accusatory or favorable to the
employer.
Since statements of both former and present employees could have
been the basis for retaliation, the court was required to balance interests
of such employees against the needs of the employer. The court found
that the employer, by showing the statements would have been helpful
but not necessary to further investigation of the case, did not make a
sufficient showing to tip the balance against the invocation of informer's
privilege.
174.
175.
176.
possible
interests
177.

455 F.2d at 827.
459 F.2d 303 (5th Cir. 1972).
This is a qualified privilege the assertion of which is permitted to protect an informer from
retaliation. Under the doctrine of Roviaro v. United States, 353 U.S. 53 (1957) the
of the informer must be balanced against the defendant's need to prepare for trial.
459 F.2d at 306.
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In Coleman v. Jiffy June Farms, Inc.,1 8 the court held an employer's
violation of the Fair Labor Standards Act was "willful" even though
he act or omission giving rise to his action was in good faith and that
he had, because of advice from his attorney and from the union which
represented his employees, reasonable grounds for believing that his pay
methods did not violate the Fair Labor Standards Act. The court, noting that this was a case of first impression, felt that an employer cannot
be excused merely because his lawyer tells him that he is not violating
the law. If this were the case, opined the court, it would be too easy to
circumvent the requirments of the Fair Labor Standards Act. Stating
that the legislative history of the 1966 amendments to the Act indicated
a liberalizing intention on the part of Congress, and that requiring
employers to have more than an awareness of the possible applicability
of the Act would be inconsistent with that intent, the court held that an
employer's decision to change his employees' rate of pay in violation of
the Fair Labor Standards Act is "willful. ..when, as in this case, there
is substantial evidence in the record to support a finding that the employer knew or suspected that his actions might violate the FLSA.
Stated most simply, we think the test should be: Did the employer know
the FLSA was in the picture?"' 79
The court may well have overstated the dangers inherent in a contrary
ruling in this case. As a practical matter, the only thing at stake was
whether the statute of limitations for the violations in question should
be two years, as is normally the case, or three years, as is the case with
a "willful" violation.180 Thus, the thrust of the court's argument that it
would be easy to circumvent the Act by reliance on an attorney's advice
appears to raise a non-existent spectre.
In United States v. Fidanian,18 an employer was convicted for criminal contempt and ordered imprisoned for disobedience of a court order
enjoining non-compliance with the Act. A federal district court had
entered a consent decree against the employer restraining him from
further violations of the Act, and restraining him from holding back
pay. Nonetheless, the employer persisted in his former practices, and
refused to make restitution, claiming inability to pay. He was convicted
of criminal contempt by the district court and sentenced to be jailed.
178. 458 F.2d 1139 (5th Cir. 1972).
179. Id.at 1142.
180. 29 U.S.C. § 255 provides that all suits under the Fair Labor Standards Act "shall be
forever barred unless commenced within two years after the cause of action accrued, except that a
cause of action arising out of a willful violation may be commenced within three years after the
cause of action accrued."
181. 465 F.2d 755 (5th Cir. 1972).

19731

LABOR LA W

On appeal, the employer claimed that he could not be jailed because
Section 16(a)8 2 of the Act forbids imprisonment for a first offense.
Noting that this was not a prosecution under Section 16(a) but rather
a conviction of criminal contempt for violation of an injunction, the
court held this argument without merit. Further, the court turned deaf
ears on the employer's contention that the court lacked jurisdiction to
enter the consent decree since even if it were improperly entered, the
83
employer still had a duty to obey it and have it corrected on appeal.
Finally, the inability to pay was held to be contrary to the evidence,
inasmuch as after the entry of the consent decree, the employer purchased two more businesses for amounts in excess of the back wage
liability in the case.
Miscellaneous
In Breitwieser v. KMS Industries, Inc.,'84 a case involving the death
of a minor who was being employed contrary to the child labor provisions of the Fair Labor Standards Act, the court held that there was no
implied federal cause of action under those provisions for wrongful
death of a minor. Finding no indication that Congress intended the Fair
Labor Standards Act to form the basis for an expansion of state wrongful death liability, the court, quoting Justice Harlan in Bivens v. Six
Unknown Named Agents of Federal Bureau of Narcotics,'85 stated,
"[I]n suits for damages based on violations of federal statutes lacking
any express authorization of a damage remedy, this Court has authorized such relief where, in its view, damages are necessary to effectuate
the Congressional policy underpinning the substantive portions of the
statute." 88
The court concluded the case was not such a case inasmuch as the
Fair Labor Standards Act provided substantial remedies for violations.
182.
183.
184.
185.
186.
penalty

29 U.S.C. § 216(b) (1970).
Citing Swift & Co. v. United States, 276 U.S. 311 (1928).
467 F.2d 1391 (5th Cir. 1972).
403 U.S. 388 (1971).
467 F.2d at 1394, quoting 403 U.S. at 402. The court specifically referred to the criminal
of up to six months in prison and a $10,000 fine for child labor violations, 29 U.S.C. § 216.

